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RECOMMENDED ORDER 

Pursuant to notice, a hearing by Zoom Conference was conducted in this 

proceeding pursuant to sections 120.569 and 120.57(1), Florida Statutes 

(2021),1 on May 4, 2022, before Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") Cathy M. 

Sellers. 
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For Petitioner:  G. Ware Cornell, Jr., Esquire 

      Cornell & Associates, P.A. 

      2645 Executive Park Drive 

      Weston, Florida  33331  

 

For Respondents: John D. Bosco, Esquire 

      Bailey Brauer, PLLC 

      8350 North Central Expressway, Suite 650 

      Dallas, Texas  75206  

 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

The issues in this case are whether Respondents engaged in unlawful 

employment discrimination against Petitioner on the basis of his age, in 

violation of the Florida Civil Rights Act, Part I, chapter 760, Florida Statutes, 
                                                           
1 All references to Florida Statutes are to the 2021 codification, which was in effect at the 

time of the alleged discrimination.  
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and specifically, section 760.10(1)(a), which prohibits an employer from 

discriminating against an employee on the basis of age; and if so, the relief to 

which Petitioner is entitled.  

 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

On or about May 12, 2021, Petitioner, Wilbur Pritchard, III, who goes by 

"Mike," filed an Employment Complaint of Discrimination with the Florida 

Commission on Human Relations ("FCHR"), alleging that Respondents, EDT 

U.S.A. Corporation ("EDT") and Central Beer Import and Export, Inc. 

("Central Beer"),2 committed unlawful discrimination against him on the 

basis of age, in violation of the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992 ("FCRA"). 

Following an investigation, FCHR issued a Determination: No Reasonable 

Cause. On or about December 10, 2021, Petitioner filed a Petition for Relief 

with FCHR, alleging that Respondents violated the FCRA by terminating his 

employment on the basis of his age. The matter was referred to the Division 

of Administrative Hearings ("DOAH") for assignment of an ALJ to conduct a 

hearing under sections 120.569 and 120.57(1). The final hearing initially was 

scheduled for February 17 and 18, 2022, but was continued and rescheduled 

to May 4 through 6, 2022. 

 

On April 26, 2022, Petitioner filed Petitioner's Motion to Compel 

("Motion"), requesting the undersigned to issue an order compelling 

Respondent's production of documents in response to Petitioner's First 

Request for Production of Documents and Things to the Defendant EDT 

U.S.A. and First Request for Production of Documents and Things to the 

Defendant Central Beer Import and Export Co. (collectively, "RFPs"), both of 

which had been served on Respondents on February 10, 2022. The motion 

recounted numerous efforts made by Petitioner's counsel to obtain the 

                                                           
2 Pursuant to the State of Florida, Division of Corporations, the correct business name for 

Central Beer is Central Beer Import & Export, Inc.  
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documents before filing the Motion. Because the final hearing was scheduled 

to commence seven days from the date the Motion was filed, the undersigned 

did not wait for Respondents to file a response, and issued an Order 

Compelling Discovery on April 27, 2022, compelling Respondents to respond 

to the RFP's no later than April 29, 2022. On April 27, 2022,3 Respondents 

served on Petitioner, and filed, Respondent E.D.T. U.S.A. Corp., Inc.'s 

Objections and Responses to Petitioner's First Request for Production of 

Documents and Respondent Central Beer Import and Export Co. Objections 

and Responses to Petitioner's First Request for Production of Documents. 

Because Respondents failed to timely respond to Petitioner's RFPs and 

Petitioner was forced to resort to filing the Motion, which resulted in the 

Order Compelling Production, pursuant to rule 1.380(a)(4), Petitioner is 

entitled to an award of reasonable expenses, including attorney's fees, that 

Petitioner incurred in obtaining the Order Compelling Production.  

 

The final hearing was held on May 4, 2022. Petitioner testified on his own 

behalf, and Petitioner's Exhibits 1 through 34 were admitted into evidence 

without objection. Respondents did not present any witnesses. Respondents' 

Exhibits 1 through 3 were admitted into evidence without objection. The 

parties also stipulated to the admission into evidence of the depositions of 

Estuardo Castillo, Javier Alonzo, and Juan Jose Monge in lieu of in-person 

testimony at the final hearing. These depositions were filed at DOAH on 

June 16, 2022.  

 

The transcript of the final hearing was filed with DOAH on June 7, 2022, 

and the parties were given ten days, until June 17, 2022, to file their 

proposed recommended orders. Thereafter, pursuant to Petitioner's 

Unopposed Motion for Enlargement of Time, filed on June 16, 2022, the 

                                                           
3 Pursuant to Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.350(b), Respondents were required to serve 

their responses within 30 days from the date of service of the RFPs. 
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parties were given until June 27, 2022, to file their proposed recommended 

orders.  

 

The parties filed their Proposed Recommended Orders on June 28, 2022. 

Each Proposed Recommended Order has been given due consideration in 

preparing this Recommended Order. 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

I. The Parties 

1. Petitioner is a 76-year-old male. At the time his work with Respondents 

was terminated, Petitioner was 75 years old.  

2. Respondent EDT imports fruit juices from Guatemala, and has offices 

in Miami-Dade County, Florida.  

3. Respondent Central Beer is a licensed beer importer based in 

Guatemala, with offices in Miami-Dade County, Florida. Central Beer 

imports, for distribution and retail sales, several brands of beer 

manufactured in Guatemala. 

4. The evidence establishes that EDT and Central Beer are related 

companies.4  

5. The evidence establishes that Petitioner almost exclusively worked for 

Central Beer, but also, on at least one occasion, worked for EDT. 

II. Findings of Fact Based on Evidence Adduced at the Final Hearing 

6. Petitioner has a lengthy career in the beverage industry. He began his 

career driving a route truck for a Coca-Cola bottling company in St. Louis, 

Missouri. Petitioner later worked as a route manager for this bottling 

company, and subsequently was promoted to the sales manager position at 

the Coca-Cola bottling company in Miami, Florida. Thereafter, he was 

                                                           
4 The evidence was not entirely clear regarding the precise nature of that relationship; 

however, that lack of clarity is immaterial to the charges in, or outcome of, this proceeding. 
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promoted to sales management positions with Coca-Cola USA in Atlanta, 

Georgia; New York City, New York; Miami, Florida; and Denver, Colorado.  

7. After several years in sales management positions with Coca-Cola, 

Petitioner was employed by Adolph Coors Brewing Company ("Coors") in 

Colorado. In this position, he was responsible for introducing Coors beer 

products to parts of the country east of the Mississippi River. He was 

employed by Coors for four years. 

8. Thereafter, Petitioner became the Executive Vice President and 

General Manager for the Johnny Bench Distributing Company in Cincinnati, 

Ohio.  

9. After the Johnny Bench Distributing Company was sold, Petitioner 

worked in China for two years as a consultant for the Coca-Cola Company, in 

distribution for the Mainland and China Coca-Cola Bottling Companies.  

10. After he left this position, Petitioner was hired as an Executive Vice 

President in charge of distribution for Gold Coast Beverage ("Gold Coast"), a 

distributor of major beer brand products, in Miami, Pompano Beach, and 

Palm Beach, Florida. When Gold Coast was sold, Petitioner retired.  

11. In 2013, Estuardo Castillo, then an executive with Central Beer, hired 

Petitioner to work for Central Beer in Miami. Petitioner characterized his 

position with Central Beer at this time as a "consultant," and Castillo 

characterized Petitioner as an "independent contractor" to Central Beer. The 

parties do not dispute that at this point in time, Petitioner was hired as an 

independent contractor to, rather than an employee of, Respondents.  

12. According to Castillo, Petitioner was hired because Central Beer 

wanted to expand its beer sales market in South Florida and Petitioner had 

substantial experience in the beer distribution industry; knew about beer 

products; and had connections and relationships with beer wholesalers and 

retailers. 

13. Petitioner testified, credibly, that in 2014, at Castillo's request, he 

prepared formal job descriptions for two Central Beer employees. When the 
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National Sales Director, Chris Garoutte, was presented with his new job 

description, he resigned.  

14. Petitioner testified, credibly, that at that time—i.e., April 2014— 

Castillo hired him to fill the position that Garoutte had just vacated. Castillo 

testified that Petitioner was hired specifically because of his existing 

relationships with beer wholesalers, his extensive experience in the beverage 

distribution industry, and his excellent reputation in the beer industry. As 

Castillo put it, Petitioner's job was to create and maintain "relationship[s] 

with beer retailers and wholesalers, and to sell beer…and propose marketing 

programs to increase that business." 

15. Petitioner's work with Central Beer centered on the distribution in the 

U.S. of Guatemalan beer products imported by Central Beer. The evidence 

establishes that Petitioner's responsibilities while he worked for Central Beer 

consisted of creating and cultivating business relationships with beer 

wholesalers, distributors, and retailers; proposing marketing programs to 

increase the sales market volume of products that Central Beer imported; 

and, as Castillo put it, "selling beer."  

16. Petitioner maintains that at this time—i.e., April 2014—he was hired 

as an employee of Central Beer—specifically, the U.S. Division Director. 

Thus, the operative time period for purposes of this proceeding is from  

April 2014 to February 2021. 

17. In support of his contention that he was an employee of Respondents, 

Petitioner provided a letter5 that he had written to a beverage distributor. 

The letter, which was written on Central Beer's business letterhead and 

signed by Petitioner as the U.S. Division Director, notified the distributor 

that Central Beer was requesting the distributor to fully release the brand 

rights to the Famosa beer brand in Alabama.  

                                                           
5 Petitioner's Exhibit 2.  
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18. Additionally, Petitioner provided another letter written on EDT 

letterhead, addressed to clients in Guatemala, showing his title as "Comercial 

Manager."6 Petitioner credibly testified that two of Respondent's employees 

composed the letter for his signature, and that they had included the title 

"Comercial Manager" on the letter for Petitioner's signature.  

19. Petitioner also testified, credibly, that he used business cards showing 

his title as Central Beer's U.S. Division Director in his contacts with beer 

wholesalers, distributors, and retailers with whom he had business dealings.   

20. These letters, and Petitioner's credible testimony regarding his U.S. 

Division Director business cards, establish that, with Respondents' 

knowledge, Petitioner held himself out as a titled employee of Respondents to 

the distributors, wholesalers, and retailers with whom he interfaced in his 

work. This constitutes compelling evidence that Respondents regarded 

Petitioner as an employee who held formal titles with their companies.  

21. Petitioner described the beer distribution business as an "eyeball to 

eyeball" business—i.e., a "relationship" business involving the establishment 

of personal relationships, and having personal meetings, with distributors 

and retailers across the U.S. Petitioner's work in establishing these 

relationships and "selling beer" to distributors often entailed two to three 

weeks per month of travel to various locations around the U.S. on behalf of 

Central Beer. In early 2020, with the advent of the COVID-19 pandemic, 

Petitioner—like nearly everyone else, including all of the distributors with 

whom he previously conducted in-person meetings with—worked from his 

home.  

22. The credible evidence established that over the term of Petitioner's 

nearly seven-year working relationship with Respondents, from April 2014 to 

February 2021, he increased Central Beer's Guatemalan beer brands sales in 

the U.S. from approximately 75,000 cases in 2014, to approximately 470,000 

cases in February 2021. Additionally, he was responsible for procuring 

                                                           
6 Petitioner's Exhibit 3. "Comercial" is the Spanish translation of the word "commercial."  
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numerous new points of distribution in the U.S. for Central Beer's products, 

and he successfully introduced two Guatemalan beer brands (Mambo and 

Marina) into U.S. markets, selling approximately 200,000 cases of those 

brands during his tenure with Respondents.  

23. The credible evidence also established that Petitioner was involved in 

the preparation of franchise agreements with distributors of Central Beer's 

products, and that he signed those franchise agreements, which were filed 

with the various states' alcoholic beverage regulatory entities on behalf of 

Central Beer.  

24. Petitioner's work in developing relationships with beer wholesalers, 

distributors, and retailers, and in working on and executing franchise 

agreements, was integral to Central Beer's business in the U.S.  

25. Petitioner worked exclusively for Respondents during his nearly 

seven-year work relationship with them. He did not work for any other 

entities during this period. 

26. In performing his job duties, Petitioner took direction from Castillo 

and four or five other persons, including Javier Alonzo, whom he 

characterized as "District Managers." Castillo described Alonzo as 

Petitioner's "supervisor." Alonzo was Petitioner's supervisor for "just a few 

months" before he terminated Petitioner's work with Respondents; prior to 

that, Castillo was Petitioner's supervisor. 

27. Emails between Petitioner, Alonzo, Castillo, and other employees show 

that although much of Petitioner's work consisted of conducting personal 

meetings with beer wholesalers and distributors, Petitioner also took 

direction from persons within Respondents' companies regarding tasks, such 

as working on franchise agreements and marketing programs, which he was 

directed to perform. 

28. Petitioner's compensation consisted of $10,000 per month, plus a 

commission based on the results of his efforts to increase Central Beer's beer 

sales volume in the U.S. In Petitioner's last year of working with 
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Respondents, he was paid $209,918.20, comprised of the $120,000 total of his 

monthly compensation, plus $109,918.20 earned in commission.  

29. There was no written contract between Petitioner and Central Beer or 

Petitioner and EDT establishing the terms and conditions of Petitioner's 

work with and for either of the Respondents. 

30. Petitioner acknowledges that he had been an independent contractor 

for Central Beer during the 2013-2014 timeframe, and that he had billed 

Central Beer for his services through his business entity, Mike Pritchard and 

Associates, Inc.  

31. However, Petitioner testified, credibly, that when Castillo hired him as 

U.S. Division Director in April 2014, Sergio Quintanilla, the office manager 

for Central Beer's Miami office, told him that he needed to continue to bill 

Central Beer through his company invoicing process for tax purposes. 

Petitioner testified that Quintanilla told him that those compensation 

arrangements were "so Central Beer didn't have to accumulate the detail for 

tax purposes. It was much simpler for me to bill them straight $10,000 a 

month plus my commission. That way, he didn't have to calculate the 

process."  

32. This credible testimony gives rise to the inference that the nature of 

the employment relationship between Petitioner and Central Beer changed 

when Petitioner was hired as U.S. Division Director for Central Beer, but 

that pursuant to Quintanilla's request, the means by which Petitioner was 

paid remained as it had while he was an independent contractor, with him 

sending, and Central Beer paying, monthly invoices.   

33. As directed by Quintanilla, Petitioner sent an invoice on a monthly 

basis to Central Beer, which paid him the set compensation of $10,000 for his 

work that month. The evidence establishes that this agreed monthly 

compensation amount, which was invoiced by Petitioner and paid by Central 

Beer, was not based on Petitioner's performance or the completion of certain 

jobs or tasks during the month. Petitioner's commission constituted the 
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incentive portion of his compensation keyed to the performance of discrete 

tasks to increase Central Beer's sales of its products.  

34. For federal income tax purposes, Petitioner reported his income on the 

Form 1099-NEC, titled "Nonemployee Compensation." 

35. When Petitioner began work at Central Beer in 2014, he already was 

drawing Social Security. The evidence showed that Central Beer did not pay 

social security tax on Petitioner's compensation. 

36. No evidence was presented regarding whether Respondents provided 

retirement or other benefits, including vacation or leave, to Petitioner. 

37. Prior to November 2020, Petitioner's contact with Alonzo had been by 

telephone. In November 2020, Alonzo, who was based in Guatemala, traveled 

to Miami and met with Petitioner and a new distributor that Petitioner had 

recently obtained as a client for Central Beer, and which would sell three 

beer brands imported by Central Beer. This was the first time that Alonzo 

met Petitioner in person.  

38. Petitioner characterized the November 2020 meeting between him, 

Alonzo, and the distributor as "great." Petitioner testified, credibly, that 

Alonzo never criticized his job performance or otherwise informed him that 

his job was in jeopardy.  

39. On January 15, 2021, Petitioner received a telephone call from Alonzo, 

terminating his work relationship with Respondents. Petitioner testified, 

credibly, that Alonzo told him that he was too old to work for Central Beer 

and that he (Alonzo) had to hire a much younger person to call on the 

company's distributors.  

40. Notably, only after meeting Petitioner in person did Alonzo, a short 

time thereafter, terminate Respondents' work relationship with Petitioner.  

41. In his deposition testimony, Alonzo described Petitioner as "a 

consultant," and denied that Petitioner was an "employee" of Respondents.  

42. Notably, no documentary evidence—whether internal company 

communications or communications with entities outside of Central Beer or 
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EDT—prepared between April 2014 and January 15, 2021, was presented 

showing that Petitioner was ever referred to as a "consultant" or 

"independent contractor." The only documentary evidence presented in which 

Petitioner was referred to as a "consultant" was email correspondence from 

Alonzo to Petitioner that was written after Alonzo had terminated 

Respondents' work with Petitioner.  

43. Alonzo denied having made reference to Petitioner's age when he 

terminated Respondents' work relationship with Petitioner. He testified that 

Castillo told him to terminate Petitioner, and that Respondents terminated 

Petitioner because he did not return calls or participate in company team 

meetings and telephone conferences. However, the competent, credible 

evidence shows that Alonzo did not communicate to Petitioner, in the 

January 15, 2021, phone call, that he was being fired for these reasons.  

44. Alonzo did not provide any supporting documentation, such as 

calendar entries documenting meetings which Petitioner ostensibly had 

missed. Nor did he provide any email correspondence between Petitioner and 

him, Castillo, or any other employees of Respondents, regarding Petitioner 

having missed meetings or failing to return telephone calls.  

45. Castillo testified that the decision to terminate Petitioner was 

Alonzo's. Notably, Castillo made no mention in his testimony that Petitioner 

had been terminated for failing to attend meetings or returning phone calls. 

Rather, he testified that Alonzo decided to terminate Petitioner, and that he 

(Alonzo) did so because he didn't "feel comfortable with Mike." 

46. The significant inconsistencies between the Alonzo's and Castillo's 

testimony substantially undercut the credibility of each of these witnesses—

particularly the testimony of Alonzo regarding the espoused reason for 

Petitioner's termination. 

47. Petitioner credibly denied having ever missed any team meetings or 

telephone conferences, or failing to return telephone calls. The undersigned 

finds Petitioner's testimony particularly persuasive in light of his diligence 
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and promptness in responding to email correspondence and timely 

performing job duties, as demonstrated by the documentary evidence.   

48. Castillo testified that Petitioner was hired as an independent 

contractor rather than as an employee, and that Petitioner was not given a 

title by Respondents. However, the credibility of this testimony is 

substantially undercut by Petitioner's credible testimony, with supporting 

documentary evidence, establishing that Petitioner held himself out as an 

employee—specifically, U.S. Division Director—in dealing with wholesalers, 

distributors, and retailers, and that Respondents' employees not only knew 

this, but engaged in actions, such as composing letters on company letterhead 

for his signature, that were consistent with him being an employee, rather 

than an independent contractor.    

49. For these reasons, the undersigned finds Petitioner's testimony, 

supported by the documentary evidence, to be credible and persuasive. By 

contrast, the undersigned found the testimony of Castillo and Alonzo—most 

particularly, that of Alonzo—to be inconsistent and unpersuasive.7 

50. Respondents hired Mike Herrera to replace Petitioner. Unlike with 

Petitioner, Central Beer entered into a written "Importer – Consultant 

Agreement" contract with Herrera, which expressly characterizes him as a 

"consultant" and an "independent contractor." 

51. The evidence does not definitively establish Herrera's age. Petitioner 

testified that he thought Herrera was between 45 and 50 years of age. Alonzo 

testified that he thought Herrera was 60 years old. In any event, it is 

undisputed that Central Beer replaced Petitioner with a person substantially 

younger than he is.  

52. Petitioner, who is now 76 years old, has been unable to find 

employment since being terminated by Central Beer. 

                                                           
7 The undersigned also found the testimony of Juan Jose Monge Ponce, the President of 

Central Beer, to be imprecise and lacking in clarity. It was obvious that Ponce knew very 

little, if anything, pertinent to Petitioner and his relationship with Respondents. The 

undersigned has not made any findings based on his testimony. 
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CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

53. DOAH has jurisdiction over the parties to, and subject matter of, this 

proceeding pursuant to sections 120.569, 120.57(1), 760.10(1)(a), and 

760.11(6), Florida Statutes. 

54. As the party asserting the affirmative of the issue in this proceeding, 

i.e., that Respondents unlawfully discriminated against Petitioner by 

terminating his employment on the basis of his age, Petitioner bears the 

ultimate burden of proof in this proceeding by a preponderance of the 

evidence. See Balino v. Dep't of Health and Rehab. Servs., 348 So. 2d 349, 350 

(Fla. 1st DCA 1977).   

55. As discussed above, Petitioner contends that, at all times pertinent to 

this proceeding, he was an employee of Respondents, and that he was 

unlawfully terminated from his employment on the basis of his age.  

56. Respondents have defended against Petitioner's discrimination claim 

by asserting that Petitioner was an independent contractor, so that he is not 

protected from employment discrimination under section 760.10(1)(a). 

Respondents further assert that they did not terminate Petitioner on the 

basis of his age, but instead terminated him for missing company team 

meetings and failing to return phone calls.  

57. Section 760.10(1)(a) states, in pertinent part: "(1) It is an unlawful 

employment practice for an employer: (a) To discharge or to fail or refuse to 

hire any individual, or otherwise to discriminate against any individual with 

respect to compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment, 

because of such individual’s … age."  

58. The FCRA's prohibition of discrimination on the basis of age was 

patterned after Title VII of the federal Civil Rights Act of 1964 and 1991, 42 

U.S.C. § 2000e, and the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, 29 U.S.C. § 

623 ("ADEA"). Thus, federal case law interpreting Title VII and the ADEA is 

applicable to cases arising under the FCRA. City of Hollywood v. Hogan, 986 

So. 2d 634, 641 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008); Brown Distrib. Co. of W. Palm Beach v. 
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Marcell, 890 So. 2d 1227, 1230 n.1 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005); Fla. State Univ. v. 

Sondel, 685 So. 2d 923, 925 n.1 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996). 

I. Employee or Independent Contractor 

59. A threshold issue is whether Petitioner was an employee of 

Respondents or whether, instead, he was an independent contractor. If 

Petitioner was an employee, then he is entitled, under the FCRA, to 

protection against employment discrimination on the basis of age. 

Conversely, if Petitioner was an independent contractor with Respondents, 

he is not entitled to such protection under the FCRA.  

60. Title VII defines an "employee" as "an individual employed by an 

employer." Cobb v. Sun Papers, Inc., 673 F.2d 337, 339 (11th Cir. 

1982)(quoting 42 U.S.C. § 2000e(f)). Llampallas v. Mini-Circuits Lab, Inc., 

163 F.3d 1236, 1242-43 (11th Cir. 1998); Cobb, 673 F.2d at 339-40; Brown v. 

Fla. Dep't of Health, 2015 WL 13743802, at *8 (N.D. Fla. Sept. 1, 2015). The 

ADEA similarly defines an "employee," with certain exceptions not pertinent 

here, as "an individual employed by an employer." Ashkenazi v. S. Broward 

Hosp. Dist., 607 Fed. Appx. 958, 961 (11th Cir. 2015). The key point is that 

only persons who are "employees," as opposed to independent contractors, 

may maintain a suit for discrimination under Title VII or the ADEA, and, 

therefore, only persons who are "employees" may maintain a suit for age 

discrimination under the FCRA.   

61. In determining whether a plaintiff in a case under Title VII or the 

ADEA is an "employee," federal courts—and by extension, Florida courts— 

utilize the hybrid "economic realities" test. Brown, 2015 WL 13743802, at *8; 

Taylor v. BP Exp., Inc., 2008 WL 5046071, at *3 (S.D. Ga. 2008). This test 

combines the "economic realities" test with the "right to control" test. Golden 

v. A.P. Orleans, Inc., 681 F. Supp. 1100, 1101 (E.D. Pa. 1988).  

62. This test has been applied numerous times in employment 

discrimination cases before FCHR and DOAH, to determine whether a 
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petitioner was an employee or independent contractor for purposes of alleged 

discrimination under the FCRA. See, e.g., Doss v. Eden Cabaret, Case  

No. 21-1356 (Fla. DOAH July 29, 2021; Fla FCHR Sept. 30, 2021); Johnson v. 

Rosebourne Inv., LLC, Case No. 18-6781 (Fla. DOAH Apr. 5, 2019; Fla. FCHR 

June 27, 2019); Moorehand v. State Farm, Case No. 14-3733 (Fla. DOAH Jan. 

6, 2015; Fla. FCHR Mar. 26, 2015); DeLeo v. Properties of The Villages, Inc., 

Case No. 09-0714 (Fla. DOAH July 16, 2009; Fla. FCHR Oct. 1, 2009); Myers 

v. Cent. Fla. Inv. Inc., Case No. 02-3580 (Fla. DOAH Apr. 17, 2003; remanded 

by Fla. FCHR Dec. 29, 2003).   

63. Under the hybrid economic realities test, eleven factors are considered 

in determining whether a petitioner is an employee or an independent 

contractor. These factors are: 

(1) the kind of occupation, with reference to 

whether the work usually is done under the 

direction of a supervisor or is done by a specialist 

without supervision; (2) the skill required in the 

particular occupation; (3) whether the “employer” 

or the individual in question furnishes the 

equipment used and the place of work; (4) the 

length of time during which the individual has 

worked; (5) the method of payment, whether by 

time or by the job; (6) the manner in which the 

work relationship is terminated; i.e., by one or both 

parties, with or without notice and explanation; (7) 

whether annual leave is afforded; (8) whether the 

work is an integral part of the business of the 

‘employer’; (9) whether the worker accumulates 

retirement benefits; (10) whether the ‘employer’ 

pays social security taxes; and (11) the intention of 

the parties. 

 

Cobb, 673 F.3d at 340. 

64. Not all of these factors are implicated in every case. Factors that are 

irrelevant or of indeterminate weight—that is, those factors that are 

essentially in equipoise and, thus, do not meaningfully cut in favor of a 

determination whether the petitioner is an employee or independent 
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contractor—must be disregarded. Eisenberg v. Advance Relocation and 

Storage, Inc., 237 F.3d 111, 114 (2nd Cir. 2000).  

65. While the characterization of the hired party as an independent 

contractor or employee may be probative of the parties' intent, “all of the 

incidents of the relationship must be assessed and weighed with no one factor 

being decisive.” NLRB v. United Ins. Co. of Am., 390 U.S. 254, 258 (1968); 

accord Spirides v. Reinhardt, 613 F.2d 826, 832-33 (D.C. Cir. 1979). 

66. Importantly, under the hybrid economic realities test, the economic 

realities of the relationship, considered in light of, or in conjunction with, the 

right of the employer to control the worker, are determinative. Cobb, 379 

F.3d at 341. To this point, case law holds that special weight should be placed 

on the extent to which the hiring party controls the manner and means by 

which the worker is assigned and completes tasks, rather than on how the 

worker is treated for tax purposes or whether he or she receives benefits. 

Eisenberg, 237 F.3d at 114. The "manner and means" component of the 

hybrid test is evaluated by focusing on whether the hiring entity has the 

right to hire and fire the individual, the right to supervise the individual, and 

the right to set the individual's work schedule. Id.  

67. Each of these components of the hybrid economic realities test, as 

applied to the facts and circumstances in this case, is addressed below. 

1. Economic Realities Factors 

(a) Kind of Occupation and Direction of Supervisor  

68. As found above, Petitioner's occupation consisted of marketing and 

selling Central Beer's imported beer products to distributors and retailers. 

Although the evidence suggests that Petitioner had a certain degree of 

autonomy in establishing relationships around the country with wholesalers, 

distributors, and retailers, and selling beer products to the distributors with 

whom he developed relationships, the evidence also clearly establishes that 

Petitioner was supervised by, and took direction regarding specific tasks, 

such as marketing programs and franchise agreement review and comment, 
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from Castillo, Alonzo, and others in Central Beer and EDT. The evidence 

shows that Central Beer and EDT had the right to assign specific tasks to 

Petitioner, and that they did, in fact, assign specific tasks, and provide 

direction and feedback on those tasks, to Petitioner.8   

69. Furthermore, and importantly, Petitioner worked exclusively for 

Central Beer and EDT from April 2014 through February 2021, when his 

work with Central Beer was concluded by his being terminated.  

70. The evidence regarding this factor weighs in favor of the existence of 

an employer-employee relationship between Petitioner and Central Beer for 

the timeframe relevant to this proceeding, which was April 2014 through 

February 2021, when Petitioner's work concluded due to his having been 

terminated. See Lockett v. Allstate Ins. Co., 364 F. Supp. 2d 1368, 1374 (M.D. 

Ga. 2005). 

(b) Skill Required 

71. Petitioner was hired by Respondents based on his excellent reputation 

in the beverage industry and because he had substantial, long-term 

relationships with beer wholesalers based on his years of experience in the 

beverage industry. He was hired to develop relationships with wholesalers, 

distributors, and retailers for the purpose of selling beer products imported 

by Central Beer. The specialized nature of Petitioner's skills and his work in 

sales weighs in favor of Petitioner being an independent contractor, rather 

than an employee. See Lane v. David P. Jacobson & Co., Ltd., 880 F. Supp. 

1091, 1099 (E.D. Va. 1995)(sales jobs are frequently undertaken by 

independent contractors).  

(c) Furnishing Equipment and Place of Work 

72. Although little evidence was presented regarding precisely where 

Petitioner physically worked (i.e., in Respondent's company offices or at home 

or in a separate business office), the evidence did establish that before the 

COVID-19 pandemic, Petitioner spent a considerable amount of time 

                                                           
8 For example, see Petitioner's Exhibit Nos. 7, 8, 10, 12, 14, and 17. 
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traveling around the country performing his job duties on behalf of Central 

Beer. Once the COVID-19 pandemic hit, Petitioner—like many, if not most, 

workers—worked from his home using his own equipment. On balance, the 

evidence regarding this factor does not significantly weigh in favor of 

Petitioner being either an employee or an independent contractor. Therefore, 

the undersigned has not assigned weight to this factor in determining 

whether there was an employer-employee relationship between Central Beer 

and Petitioner.  

(d) Length of Time Petitioner Worked For/With Central Beer 

73. Upon being hired by Castillo in April 2014, Petitioner worked 

exclusively for/with Respondents for nearly seven years, from April 2014 

through February 2021, developing relationships with beer wholesalers, 

distributors, and retailers; selling beer products imported by Central Beer; 

developing and executing marketing programs for the beer products imported 

by Central Beer; and negotiating and executing franchise agreements on 

behalf of Central Beer.  

74. The absence of any written contract between Petitioner and 

Respondents indicates that the parties did not contemplate a specific or 

definite duration for the working relationship between Petitioner and 

Respondents; rather, this evidence indicates that the parties entered into the 

working relationship the expectation that it would be of an indefinite 

duration. In fact, the parties did have a long-term work relationship until 

Alonzo abruptly terminated that relationship in January 2021.  

75. The extensive length of time in which Petitioner worked for 

Respondents weighs heavily in favor of him being an employee of, rather than 

an independent contractor to, them. See Brown, 2015 WL 13743802, at *10; 

Wilson v. United Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co., 1995 WL 378521, at *8 (S.D. 

Ind. June 15, 1995)(independent contractor more likely to have specified and 

short period of time for the performance of a certain goal).  
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(e) Method of Payment  

76. As found above, Respondents compensated Petitioner in the amount of 

$10,000 per month, plus commission.  

77. The term "salary" is defined, in pertinent part, as "an agreed 

compensation for services … paid at regular intervals." Salary, Black's Law 

Dictionary (Deluxe 7th Ed. 1990).  

78. Petitioner's commission was paid above and beyond his regular 

monthly compensation of $10,000, and was keyed to the volume of beer sales 

to distributors and retailers that he made.  

79. Although this compensation model involves both a set amount paid at 

regular intervals, as well as commissions which were tantamount to incentive 

bonuses, the evidence shows that the majority of Petitioner's annual 

compensation—including his last year with Central Beer, in which he earned 

$209,918.20—was derived from "an agreed compensation for services" paid on 

monthly intervals—i.e., was a salary. Thus, this factor weighs in favor of the 

existence of an employer-employee relationship between Central Beer and 

Petitioner. See VIP Tours of Orlando, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor and Emp. Sec., 

Div. of Emp. Sec., 449 So. 2d 1307 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984)(workers paid 

commission instead of salary were independent contractors rather than 

employees). 

(f) Manner in which Work Relationship is Terminated 

80. As found above, there was no written contract between Petitioner and 

Respondents establishing a specific term of Petitioner's work with 

Respondents, or any terms and conditions of that work. As discussed above, a 

reasonable inference from this fact is that the relationship between Petitioner 

and Central Beer had been entered into with the parties' expectation that it 

would be of an indefinite time period. 

81. Petitioner worked in his current position with/for Central Beer for 

nearly seven years when, in mid-January 2021, Alonzo terminated him. At 

that time, Alonzo had been Petitioner's supervisor for only a few months. As 
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discussed above, Petitioner testified, credibly, that Alonzo had never voiced 

any criticism of his job performance, nor did he inform Petitioner that his job 

performance was the basis for terminating the parties' work relationship. As 

discussed above, Petitioner testified, credibly, that the only explanation he 

was given by Alonzo for being terminated was that he was "too old" to meet 

with distributors.  

82. Petitioner credibly testified that while he worked for/with 

Respondents, he and Alonzo had a positive working relationship conducted 

over the phone, and that he did not meet Alonzo in person until November 

2020. Only after Alonzo met Petitioner in person did he terminate him a 

short time thereafter. Alonzo terminated Petitioner because, according to 

Castillo, Alonzo didn't "feel comfortable with Mike."  

83. The absence of a written contract between the parties and the fact that 

Central Beer treated Petitioner as being an at-will worker, as evidenced by 

him having being terminated without an established notice period, weighs in 

favor of Petitioner having been an employee of, rather than an independent 

contractor to, Respondents. See La Grande v. B & L Servs., Inc. 432 So. 2d 

1364, 1368 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983)(ability to terminate working relationship at 

will without incurring liability is an attribute more characteristic of an 

employment situation than an independent contractor). 

(g) Whether Annual Leave is Afforded  

84. No evidence was presented regarding whether Petitioner was entitled 

to receive, or received, annual leave from Respondents. Therefore, this factor 

has not been considered in determining whether Petitioner was an employee 

or an independent contractor.  

(h) Whether Petitioner's Work is an Integral Part of the Business  

85. As discussed above, Petitioner's work, consisting of developing a U.S. 

client base of distributors for Central Beer's products, developing marketing 

programs, and negotiating and executing franchise agreements with 

distributors, was an integral component of Central Beer's business in the 
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U.S. Thus, this factor weighs heavily in favor of the existence of an employer-

employee relationship between Central Beer and Petitioner. See Scantland v. 

Jeffry Knight, Inc., 721 F.3d 1308, 1319 (11th Cir. 2013) (integral role of work 

performed in business shows that arrangement follows more closely that of 

employer-employee relationship than independent contractor). 

(i) Accumulation of Retirement Benefits  

86. No evidence was presented regarding whether Petitioner was entitled 

to receive, or received, annual leave from Respondents. Therefore, this factor 

is not considered in determining whether Petitioner was an employee or an 

independent contractor.  

(j) Payment of Social Security Taxes 

87. The evidence indicates that Central Beer did not pay social security 

tax on behalf of Petitioner. This factor weighs in favor of the existence of an 

independent contractor relationship between Petitioner and Respondents. 

United States Tel. Co. v. Dep't of Labor and Emp. Sec., Div. of Emp. Sec., 410 

So. 2d 1002 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982)(no payment of social security indicative of 

independent contractor rather than employer-employee relationship).  

(k) Intention of the Parties 

88. As discussed above, there was no written contract between the parties 

establishing the length, or terms and conditions, of Petitioner's working 

relationship with Respondents.  

89. By contrast, as discussed above, when Central Beer hired Herrera to 

replace Petitioner, it entered into a written "Importer - Consultant 

Agreement" that expressly characterizes Herrera as an independent 

contractor, rather than an employee.  

90. This evidence shows that Respondents are fully aware of how—i.e., 

executing a written contract—to enter into a work relationship that 

constitutes a consulting/independent contractor relationship, as opposed to 

an employment relationship.  
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91. The fact that no such written consultant-independent contractor 

agreement was executed between Petitioner and Central Beer covering the 

time period from April 2014 through January 2021, when Petitioner was 

terminated, evidences that both Petitioner and Central Beer considered, and 

treated, their work relationship as an employer-employee relationship. See 

Ashkenazi v. S. Broward Hosp. Dist., 607 Fed. Appx. at 963 (existence of 

written contract indicates an independent contractor relationship). 

92. The existence of an employer-employee relationship between 

Petitioner and Central Beer also is substantially supported by the 

documentary evidence consisting of letters sent to Central Beer and EDT 

clients, on Central Beer and EDT letterhead and signed by Petitioner as 

"U.S. Division Director" and "Comercial Manager." These letters, plus 

Petitioner's credible testimony regarding having business cards showing his 

title as "U.S. Division Director," establish that with Central Beer's and EDT's 

knowledge, Petitioner held himself out as a titled employee of Central Beer 

and EDT to the existing and potential clients of Central Beer and EDT. This 

constitutes compelling evidence that Respondents regarded Petitioner as an 

employee rather than an independent contractor.  

93. Moreover, of particular note is that only after January 15, 2021, did 

Alonzo send an email to Petitioner referring to him as a "consultant." This 

after-the-fact effort to characterize the relationship between Petitioner and 

Respondents as a consultant/independent contractor relationship is not 

supported by the credible evidence, is unpersuasive and does not transform a 

previously-existing employer-employee relationship into a 

consultant/independent contractor relationship.  

94. In sum, while a few of the factors in the economic realities test weigh 

in favor of an independent contractor relationship between Respondents and 

Petitioner, collectively, the factors weigh more heavily in favor of the 

existence of an employer-employee relationship between the parties.  
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2. Control Over Manner and Means by which Petitioner Performed His Job 

95. The evidence also establishes that Respondents exercised a significant 

level of control over the "manner and means" by which Petitioner performed 

his job. 

96. Of key importance is that during the nearly seven years in which 

Petitioner worked for Respondents, he did not work for, or perform any 

services for, any other business entities; his work during this period was 

exclusively for Respondents—primarily, Central Beer.  

97. Further, although the evidence shows that Petitioner did have 

autonomy in forming relationships with wholesalers, distributors, and 

retailers in developing a U.S. market for Central Beer's products, the 

evidence also shows that he took directions regarding his performance of 

specific tasks by various employees of Central Beer, including Alonzo, who 

was his supervisor. These tasks included the details of marketing programs 

and the negotiation of franchise agreements with distributors of Central Beer 

products. 

98. Of additional importance is that Petitioner was part of Central Beer's 

working groups, who, by Alonzo's own admission, was expected to be part of 

Central Beer's team regular meetings. This evidence indicates that Central 

Beer had substantial control over the manner and means by which Petitioner 

performed his job duties at Central Beer.  

99. In sum, the competent, credible, and persuasive evidence establishes 

that Respondents—and particularly Central Beer—exercised substantial 

control over Petitioner's performance of his job.  

100. Based on the foregoing, it is concluded that, pursuant to the hybrid 

economic realities test, Petitioner was an employee of, rather than an 

independent contractor with, Respondents—particularly with Central Beer.  
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II. Respondents Discriminated Against Petitioner on the Basis of Age 

101. Under Title VII and the ADEA, and, therefore, by extension, the 

FCRA, a petitioner may attempt to establish a prima facie case of 

discrimination through either direct or indirect evidence.  

1. Direct Evidence of Discrimination 

102. To establish a prima facie case of wrongful discrimination by direct 

evidence, Petitioner must present evidence that the employer acted with a 

discriminatory motive. Scholz v. RDV Sports, Inc., 710 So. 2d 618, 624 (Fla. 

5th DCA 1998). Direct evidence of discrimination is evidence, that, "if 

believed, proves [the] existence of [a] fact in issue without inference or 

presumption." Burrell v. Bd. of Trs. of Ga. Military Coll., 125 F.3d 1390, 1393 

(11th Cir. 1997).  

103. Direct evidence is composed of "only the most blatant remarks, whose 

intent could be nothing other than to discriminate on the basis of some 

impermissible factor." Carter v. City of Miami, 870 F.2d 578, 582 (11th Cir. 

1989). 

104. Direct evidence must not only directly address the issue of 

discriminatory intent, but must also relate to the specific employment 

decision at issue. Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Prods., Inc., 530 U.S. 133, 

141 (2000); Bush v. Barnett Bank of Pinellas Cnty., 916 F. Supp. 1244, 1252 

(M.D. Fla. 1996).  

105. If there is direct evidence of discrimination, the burden shifts to 

Respondents to show, by a preponderance of the evidence, that Petitioner 

would have been discharged even absent the discriminatory motive. Scholz v. 

710 So. 2d at 624.  
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106. Here, there is direct evidence, consisting of Alonzo's blatant 

statement9 to Petitioner that he was being terminated because he was too 

old, and that he (Alonzo) had to hire a younger worker to call on Central 

Beer's distributors. The only possible intent of Alonzo's statement is that he, 

on behalf of Respondents, intended to terminate Petitioner on the basis of his 

age. See, e.g., Williams v. Gen. Motors Corp., 656 F.2d 120, 130 (5th Cir. 

1981)(stating that someone should be terminated because they are too old 

constitutes direct evidence of discrimination on the basis of age). Moreover, 

Alonso's statement unquestionably related to—in fact, was the very basis of—

his specific employment decision, and resulting action, to terminate 

Petitioner's employment.  

107. To rebut this direct evidence of Respondents' discrimination against 

Petitioner on the basis of his age, Respondents presented Alonzo's testimony 

that Petitioner was terminated for failing to attend company team meetings 

and failing to return phone calls. For the reasons discussed above, the 

undersigned found Alonzo's testimony incredible10 and unpersuasive. 

Moreover, the other evidence that Respondents presented also failed to rebut 

Petitioner's direct evidence establishing that Respondents terminated his 

employment on the basis of his age. Thus, Respondents failed to demonstrate 

that Petitioner's employment would have been terminated even absent their 

discriminatory motive to terminate him on the basis of his age.  

                                                           
9 Petitioner's testimony regarding Alonzo's statement that he was being fired because he was 

too old is not hearsay. Rather, because Alonzo's making of the statement is the very fact at 

issue, Petitioner's direct testimony is first hand testimony to this issue and no person’s 

credibility regarding the statement is involved other than Petitioner's. See Ward v. U.S., 296 

F.2d 898, 903 (5th Cir. 1961); Arguelles v. State, 842 So. 2d 939, 942 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003)(the 
verbal acts prove the nature of the act, as opposed to proving the truth of the alleged out-of-

court statements). Here, Petitioner's testimony is offered to prove the legally significant act 

that Alonzo made the statement in terminating him, which constitutes discrimination on the 

basis of his age—not the truth of his statement that Petitioner was, in fact, "too old" to call 

on Central Beer's distributors.   

 
10 Dictionary.com defines "incredible" as "not credible; hard to believe; unbelievable." 

Dictionary.com, https://www.dictionary.com/browse/incredible (last visited July 18, 2022). 
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108. Accordingly, it is determined that Petitioner has established, by a 

preponderance of the competent, credible, and persuasive evidence, that 

Respondents  terminated his employment solely on the basis of his age, in 

violation of section 760.10(1)(a). 

2. Indirect Evidence of Discrimination 

109. Although Petitioner presented direct evidence that Respondents 

terminated his employment on the basis of his age, so that it is unnecessary 

for him to also present circumstantial evidence of Respondents' 

discrimination against him on the basis of age, it bears mention that there 

also is ample indirect circumstantial evidence in this case to support a 

determination that Respondents terminated Petitioner on the basis of his 

age.  

110. In an age discrimination case based on indirect, i.e., circumstantial, 

evidence, Petitioner must establish a prima facie case under the burden-

shifting test articulated in McDonnell Douglas Corporation v. Green, 411 U.S. 

792 (1973), as adapted to cases involving alleged discrimination on the basis 

of age. In order to establish a prima facie case of age discrimination, 

Petitioner must show that: (1) he was a member of a protected age class11; (2) 

he was discharged from his employment; (3) he was qualified for the position 

he held; and (4) he was replaced by a younger worker. Cox v. Ky. DOT, 53 

F.3d 146, 150 (6th Cir. 1995).  

111. If a prima facie case of age discrimination is established, the burden 

shifts to the Respondents, who must give legitimate, nondiscriminatory 

reasons for the adverse employment decision. LaPointe v. United Autoworkers 

Loc. 600, 8 F.3d 376, 379 (6th Cir. 1993). If they do so, the burden shifts back 

to Petitioner, who must establish that the legitimate reasons offered by the 

                                                           
11 The ADEA, by its terms, applies only to "individuals of at least 40 years of age." 29 U.S.C. 

§ 631. Although the ADEA was enacted separately from Title VII, and Title VII does not 

expressly identify a protected age class in terms of number of years, the two statutes are 

"similar in text, tone, and purpose." Barber v. CSX Distribution Servs., 68 F.3d 694, 698 (3d 

Cir. 1995). Thus, courts "routinely look to law developed under Title VII to guide an inquiry 

under the ADEA." Id. 
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defendant were merely a pretext for decisions which were actually motivated 

by an unlawful bias against age. Id.   

112. Petitioner, as a person who was 75 years old when he was terminated 

from his employment with Respondents, is a member of a protected class 

under Title VII and the ADEA, and, by extension, the FCRA. 

113. As discussed above, Alonzo terminated Petitioner's employment by 

telephone call on January 15, 2021.  

114. The evidence establishes that Petitioner was well-qualified for his 

position with Respondents. As discussed above, Petitioner was in the 

beverage industry for many years before being hired by Respondents. In fact, 

Castillo hired Petitioner specifically because of his skills, contacts, and 

excellent reputation in the beverage industry.   

115. The evidence establishes that Respondents replaced Petitioner by 

hiring Mike Herrera, who was considerably younger than Petitioner, to 

assume his job responsibilities.  

116. As discussed above, Alonzo testified that he terminated Petitioner 

because he was told to do so by Castillo. He also testified that Petitioner was 

terminated for failing to attend company team meetings and failing to return 

phone calls. Notably, however, Castillo never mentioned that Petitioner was 

terminated for those reasons or for any other performance deficiencies; 

rather, Castillo testified that it was Alonzo's decision to terminate Petitioner 

because, as Castillo put it, Alonzo didn't "feel comfortable with Mike." As 

found above, Alonzo made the decision to terminate Petitioner shortly after 

he met Petitioner in person for the first time. The competent, credible 

evidence establishes that Alonzo had never voiced any concerns about, or 

identified any deficiencies in, Petitioner's job performance. Additionally, 

Alonzo's testimony was notably silent regarding any reasons he gave 

Petitioner, in the January 15, 2021, phone call, for terminating him. 

117. As discussed above, the undersigned found Alonzo's testimony that 

Petitioner was fired for failing to attend company meetings and return phone 
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calls to be incredible and unpersuasive. Respondents failed to present any 

other competent, credible evidence establishing a non-discriminatory basis 

for terminating Petitioner's employment.  

118. Thus, it is determined that the reason offered by Respondents—i.e., 

performance deficiencies by Petitioner having failed to attend meetings and 

return phone calls—was a mere pretext for terminating him on the basis of 

his age.  

119. Accordingly, Petitioner also has established a prima facie case of age 

discrimination under the McDonnell-Douglas test.  

120. In sum, based on the foregoing, it is concluded that Petitioner was an 

employee of, rather than an independent contractor with, Respondents for 

the time period of April 2014 through February 2021, when he concluded his 

employment with Respondents due to having been terminated. 

121. In sum, based on the foregoing, it is concluded that Petitioner 

established, by the preponderance of the competent, credible, and persuasive 

evidence—both direct and indirect—that Respondents discriminated against 

him, in violation of section 760.10(1)(a) of the FCRA, by terminating his 

employment on the basis of his age.  

III. Entitlement to Damages and Attorney's Fees  

122. Section 760.11(6) states, in pertinent part:  

If the administrative law judge, after the hearing, 

finds that a violation of the Florida Civil Rights Act 

of 1992 has occurred, the administrative law judge 

shall issue an appropriate recommended order in 

accordance with chapter 120 prohibiting the 

practice and providing affirmative relief from the 

effects of the practice, including back pay.…In any 

action or proceeding under this subsection, the 

commission, in its discretion, may allow the 

prevailing party a reasonable attorney's fee as part 

of the costs. It is the intent of the Legislature that 

this provision for attorney's fees be interpreted in a 

manner consistent with federal case law involving 

a Title VII action.  
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123. The purpose of a back pay award under Title VII, and by extension, 

the FCRA, is to make a petitioner whole—that is, to place a petitioner in the 

position he or she would have been in but for the discriminatory act. See 

Abermarle Paper Co. v. Moody, 422 U.S. 405, 418-19 (1975).  

124. Petitioner has requested an award of $278,667.00 through the end of 

July 2022, for lost income.12 

125. Consistent with federal case law under Title VII, to make Petitioner 

whole, he is entitled to receive his monthly salary of $10,000.00 plus the 

amount of his commission averaged over a 12-month period, for the months 

he has been unemployed since being terminated by Respondents on the basis 

of unlawful discrimination.  

126. The evidence establishes that for calendar year 2020, Respondents 

paid Petitioner $209,918.20 in compensation. Thus, Petitioner was paid 

compensation in the amount of $17,493.18 per month, consisting of his 

salary, plus his commission averaged over a 12-month period, for calendar 

year 2020. Respondents paid Petitioner for the months of January and 

February 2021, so Petitioner is entitled to a payment of $17,493.18 per month 

for the remaining months in 2021 (i.e., March through December 2021) and 

calendar year 2022 through the end of July—a total of 16 months. Therefore, 

Petitioner is entitled to an award of $279,891.00 in back pay. 

127. Section 760.11(6) further provides that the prevailing party may be 

awarded attorney's fees consistent with federal case law under Title VII. 

Federal case law holds that courts may award attorney's fees to a prevailing 
                                                           
12 Petitioner also seeks an award of punitive damages and damages for pain and suffering.  

Section 760.11(6) expressly authorizes ALJs to issue orders prohibiting the discriminatory 

practice and recommending affirmative relief from the effects of the discriminatory practice, 

including back pay, but does not authorize an ALJ to award damages for intangible injuries. 

This subsection stands in contrast to section 760.11(5), involving civil actions in circuit 

courts, which expressly authorizes the court to award damages for intangible injuries such as 

mental anguish, pain and suffering, loss of dignity, and punitive damages. Additionally, 

Florida case law holds that the award of damages for intangible injury is solely a judicial 

function, so that administrative agencies, including DOAH and FCHR, are not empowered to 

award such damages in administrative proceedings. See Broward Cnty. v. La Rosa, 505 So. 

2d 422, 423-24 (Fla. 1987). 
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plaintiff in a Title VII case in "all but very unusual circumstances." 

Albemarle Paper Co., 422 U.S. at 415. In Newman v. Piggie Park Enterprises, 

Inc., 390 U.S. 400, 402 (1968), the U.S. Supreme Court explained that a 

prevailing plaintiff in a Title VII case is entitled to attorney's fees "unless 

special circumstances would render such an award unjust."  

128. Here, no evidence was presented showing that it would be unjust to 

award attorney's fees to Petitioner for his being forced to bring this legal 

challenge on the basis of Respondents' unlawful discrimination against him 

by terminating him on the basis of age. Accordingly, Petitioner is entitled to 

an award of attorney's fees under section 760.11(6).  

129. Because no evidence regarding the amount of attorney's fees to which 

Petitioner is entitled was presented at the final hearing, it is appropriate for 

DOAH to retain jurisdiction over this proceeding for the purpose of holding 

an evidentiary hearing to determine the amount of attorney's fees that 

Respondents owe to Petitioner, pursuant to section 760.11(6). 

130. Additionally, DOAH retains jurisdiction over this proceeding to 

determine the amount of attorney's fees, pursuant to rule 1.380(a)(4), to 

which Petitioner is entitled for being forced to file a motion to compel 

discovery.  

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, it is 

RECOMMENDED that the Florida Commission on Human Relations enter a 

final order: (1) determining that Respondents engaged in unlawful 

discrimination against Petitioner by terminating his employment on the 

basis of age, in violation of section 760.10(1)(a); (2) awarding Petitioner 

$279,891.00 in back pay; (3) determining that Petitioner is entitled to an 

award of prevailing party attorney's fees under section 760.11(6); and (4) 

remanding this proceeding to DOAH to take additional evidence regarding  
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the amount of attorney's fees to which Petitioner is entitled under  

section 760.11(6) and rule 1.380(4). 
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NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 15 days from 

the date of this Recommended Order. Any exceptions to this Recommended 

Order should be filed with the agency that will issue the Final Order in this 

case. 




